1956

George C. Goodwin v. Joseph M. Tracy : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This cause is before this Court as an intermediate appeal or an appeal from an interlocutory order made and entered by the Fifth Judicial District Court of the State of Utah, in and for Iron County, involving a well

and underground water right of the appellant, George C. Goodwin.

As indicated by the title of the case, a proceeding was originally initiated as a general adjudication of all of the rights to the use of water in the Escalante Valley Drainage Area in Utah, which includes the Milford underground water basin immediately south of the City of Milford in Beaver County.

After complying with the provisions of *Chapter 4 of Title 73, Utah Code Annotated, 1953*, and after completion of a hydrographic survey of the area, the State Engineer on or about the 1st day of April, 1949, served and filed in the District Court of Iron County his Proposed Determination of Water Rights in said area.

In the due course of the said general adjudication proceedings, and on or about the 22nd day of October, 1943, one R. L. Bradshaw, predecessor in interest to the within claimant, George C. Goodwin, filed a statement of water user's claim as provided by statute, and said statement of claim was by the Clerk of the District Court assigned a number, to-wit, No. 542; and thereafter by the said proposed determination the claim was wholly disallowed by the State Engineer. Thereupon the claimant filed his objection and protest to the disallowance of his well and underground water right claiming that he was the owner of an eighty-acre tract of land; that in 1934 his predecessor in interest commenced to drill a well on

the premises and during said year completed the work; that the well was drilled at considerable expense and for the purpose of irrigating the eighty-acre tract and that the capacity of the well was and still is one second-foot of water; that during the year 1936 claimant's predecessor in interest placed under cultivation 35 acres of said land and thereafter placed under cultivation up to sixty acres, all of which cultivated land was continuously since its planting been irrigated with the water from said well; that the water user's claim No. 542, claimed an intention to irrigate the maximum acreage that could be irrigated from the well within the eighty-acre tract.

Thereafter two hearings were duly held by the District Court on the said protest, after which the Court made and entered its findings of fact and conclusions of law and an interlocutory order (Tr. 47-52) granting to the claimant and appellant herein the right to irrigate 28 acres within said eighty-acre tract with the water from said well, and denying the claim and protest except to the extent of the irrigation right for 28 acres.

A petition for interlocutory appeal from said order was filed in accordance with and as provided by the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and which appeal was duly allowed and granted by order of this Court (Tr. 54-62).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the following statement of facts it is not deemed

necessary to re-state those which are incorporated in the foregoing statement of the case, many of which are taken almost bodily from the trial court's findings and conclusions (Tr. 47-50).

While the State Engineer and the claimant and appellant herein differ as to the correctness of the court's conclusions of law and the interlocutory order based thereon, there is little, if any, controversy concerning the facts.

The said findings of fact, the pertinent portions of which, insofar as this controversy is concerned, are briefly as follows:

1. That water user's claim No. 542 was based upon underground water claim No. 17173 which claimed a right to irrigate from a well drilled during the year 1934, with a flow of 1.0 c.f.s. of water and the claim stated an intention to irrigate the maximum acreage that could be irrigated from the said well within the $W\frac{1}{2}SW\frac{1}{4}$ of Sec. 17, Twp. 29 South, R. 10 West, S.L.M. (Tr. 48).

2. That there was no irrigation from the well until after March 13, 1936 (the petition for intermediate appeal, in paragraph 2 on page 4 thereof, through inadvertence and error, states that date as March 13, 1956); that by the year 1942, 28 acres of land had been brought under cultivation; that by 1946, 45 acres of land were being irrigated; that during the years 1952, 1953 and 1954 claimant had placed 70 acres under cultivation (Tr. 48).

3. That on Oct. 19, 1935, Richard L. Bradshaw filed in the office of the State Engineer Application No. 11870 to appropriate 1.0 c.f.s. from the same well to irrigate the said 80-acre tract; that on June 5, 1936, applicant was advised by the State Engineer that since his well was then drilled and his application filed he would be free to use the water subject to prior rights and that his application would be held, unadvertised, but in good standing pending further clarification of underground water conditions in the area; that on Feb. 17, 1938, applicant was advised by the State Engineer to file an underground water claim and pursuant to such advice the claimant did file Underground Water Claim No. 17173; that on May 6th, 1938, the claimant was advised by the State Engineer that, if his application No. 11870 were advertised, it would then be the duty of the State Engineer to reject the same for the reason that there was no unappropriated water, but he was also advised that if he chose to pay the advertising fee, following rejection of the application he could take an appeal to the district court; and on this same date and in the same letter he was advised that if he failed to pay the advertising fee by July 5th, 1938, the application would lapse; and that the fee was not paid and on July 5, 1938, the application was endorsed "lapsed" (Tr. 48-49).

4. That during the period between May 6, 1938, and the year 1944, the then State Engineer was of the opinion that there was no unappropriated water in that part of

the Escalante Valley underground water basin referred to as the Milford area. That beginning with the year 1944 the then State Engineer became of the opinion that some additional applications might be allowed and that thereafter many applications were filed and a considerable number have been approved, subject to existing rights in each case (Tr. 49).

5. That between the year 1935 and the present time, it has been the practice of the State Engineer to allow extensions of time for completing appropriations of water, provided that requests for such extensions are timely filed; that during the war period and particularly from 1942 to and including 1945, extensions were granted upon application without requiring proof of previous work done (Tr. 49).

6. That extensions of time up to 20 years have been granted in some cases by the State Engineer for completion of appropriations (Tr. 49).

From the foregoing findings of fact the trial court concluded:

1. That the drilling of the well in the year 1934 initiated a new right to appropriate water from the underground basin with a priority of November, 1934 (Tr. 49).

2. That the right to use water for irrigation from the well should be limited to the maximum acreage brought under irrigation and irrigated within a reason-

able time after drilling of the well; and that the acreage found to have been brought under irrigation up to the date of the investigation by the State Engineer in the year 1942, to-wit, 28 acres, should be considered the maximum acreage for which the right should now be allowed (Tr. 49-50).

3. That a new and distinct right was initiated by the filing of Application No. 11870 on Oct. 19, 1935, but that the right was lost when the application lapsed on July 5, 1938, for failure to pay the advertising fee as required by the notice sent by the State Engineer to the applicant; that the announced policy of the State Engineer to reject applications based upon a bona fide belief that the underground water basin was fully developed and appropriated constituted no justification for reinstating an application rejected or threatened with rejection, because of that belief, even though such belief later be considered to have been erroneous (Tr. 50).

Thereupon the interlocutory order appealed from was made and entered by the trial court (Tr. 51-52) allowing claimant the right to irrigate 28 acres and disallowing any greater acreage.

The appellant, George C. Goodwin, is a dairy farmer and the owner of the 80-acre tract hereinbefore described. He acquired the title to the land by making final payment thereon in 1951, but purchased the land under contract in 1946. When he first went into posses-

sion under his contract in 1946 there was 45 acres under cultivation and being irrigated. He had rented the premises from Richard L. Bradshaw for three years prior to making the purchase in 1946 and from that knowledge knew that the ground had been irrigated for some years prior to that time (Tr. 2-3).

At the time of the first hearing before the trial court in June of 1954, Goodwin was farming and irrigating about 70 acres (Tr. 4).

In 1946 45 acres were being irrigated with a little acreage added from time to time and for three years prior to 1954 he was irrigating up to 70 acres (Tr. 4).

The land has no practical value or use without water with which to irrigate it, and the well furnishes sufficient water for the irrigation of the 70 acres (Tr. 5).

Since the well was first drilled it has never been deepened or enlarged (Tr. 6).

When Goodwin purchased the land from Bradshaw he was under the belief that he was securing a water right for the 80-acre tract. He had farmed and lived in that vicinity practically all of his life and during that time acquired a knowledge of the reasonable value of land such as his without any water right. Without such water right land is worth about \$20.00 per acre, and is practically useless except for a little grazing. With the water the land is worth \$75.00 per acre, and he paid Bradshaw

\$75.00 per acre supposedly for a water right for the full acreage. Since the purchase Goodwin made expenditures on the acres for which water was disallowed, including levelling, plowing, clearing, planting, fencing, ditches and laterals, etc., in the value of \$50.00 per acre, and if not permitted to irrigate the land such improvements are entirely wasted (Tr. 21-22).

At the time of making the purchase from Bradshaw in 1946 Goodwin had not received any information from anyone to the effect that he would not be permitted to use the well to its full capacity for the irrigation of as many acres as might be served from the well up to the 80-acre tract, and he believed he was receiving a water right for 80 acres (Tr. 23-24). The proposed determination disallowing the claim made by Bradshaw was *first filed in the District Court and served upon water users in April of 1949* (Tr. 13).

Goodwin knew that the area had been closed for further applications in 1946, but he knew this well had been put down in 1935 (actually in 1934) prior to the passing of the act in 1935 placing underground water under the jurisdiction of the State Engineer. There was 25 to 30 acres under cultivation and being irrigated when he purchased the land (Tr. 23-24).

The topographical map prepared by the State Engineer showing the irrigated portions of lands in Section

17, Twp. 28 South, Range 10 West, S.L.M., as of the year 1942, shows 52 acres then under cultivation in the east half and the west half of the southwest quarter of the section, of which 24 acres was in the east half (not involved in this cause) and the remainder of 28 acres in the west half. The irrigation of the acreage in the west half of the southwest quarter of Section 17 was from the well covered by underground water claim No. 17173 and Application No. 11870 (Tr. 6-10). As a matter of fact the well described in the application is the same well as the one described in the underground water claim.

Certain interrogatories were propounded to the State Engineer and were answered orally at the second hearing on Jan. 18, 1956. For the sake of brevity appellant will not set forth verbatim the interrogatories and answers but will briefly summarize the same in narrative form.

The State Engineer made his proposed determination in this proceeding about April 1st, 1949, and mailed copies of the same to various water users immediately following (Tr. 12-13).

On May 6th, 1938, in re Application No. 11870, the State Engineer advised Bradshaw by letter that he would reject the application, but if the claimant chose to pay the advertising fee of \$15.00 he could do so and take his appeal to the District Court (Tr. 13, Ex. 5).

After May 6th, 1938, in the Milford Valley underground water basin and particularly in the portion known as the segregated area (in the vicinity of the Goodwin property) in which applications are not now and for several years last past have not been approved, six applications for an aggregate of 7.7 second feet of water were approved, these applications being filed between 1935 and January 1st, 1944 (Tr. 13-14).

That no requests for applications for extension of time to submit final proof on any approved applications for underground waters for irrigation purposes in any part of Beaver County have ever been rejected (Tr. 14-15).

One application made on January 10th, 1936, No. 11917, for 1.1 second feet to irrigate 80 acres is still in good standing in the office of the State Engineer and kept in good standing by requests for extensions of time to submit final proof which have been granted by the State Engineer (Tr. 15). Final proof is submitted when the applicant has drilled his well and put all of the acreage called for by the application under irrigation and by a beneficial use of the water.

Up to April 30th, 1952, 35 approved applications for irrigation purposes, involving an aggregate of 116.75 second feet of water which is an average of 3.3 second feet per well, and which applications were filed during

the years 1936 to April 30th, 1952, are still in good standing in the office of the State Engineer and kept in such good standing by requests for extensions of time to submit final proof and which requests have been granted by the State Engineer (Tr. 15-16).

Since April 30th, 1952, no applications have been approved for drilling wells in what is called the segregated area where the well right of Goodwin is located (Tr. 19-20).

The records of the office of the State Engineer disclose that immediately following the enactment of the underground water law in 1935, applications to appropriate water came so rapidly that the office concluded the Milford underground water basin was becoming overdeveloped (Tr. 16-17); that this idea was communicated to the area as indicated by the letter (Tr. 17) and the then State Engineer on a few occasions sent letters to various applicants similar to the letter which went to Bradshaw, with the idea that the area was small enough so that such letters were pretty widely communicated in a short time (Tr. 17). Within about three years thereafter the State Engineer became convinced that there was some development that could be made in the Milford area, which was likely communicated to the land owners there early in the year 1944, because starting the latter part of 1944 and until April 30, 1952, there was filed in Beaver County for underground water purposes in excess of

200 applications, including some stockwatering and some mining use applications; That 75% of these applications are in the Milford underground water basin (Tr. 17-18). (See Exhibits 1 to 5 incl.).

STATEMENT OF ERRORS RELIED ON

1. The error relied on by the applicant for a reversal of the interlocutory order of the trial court can be stated as follows:

The Court erred in making its interlocutory order limiting the claimant, George C. Goodwin, to the use of water from the well therein described for the irrigation of only 28 acres of land within the premises therein described, and in not awarding said claimant the right to irrigate 70 acres of land within said premises with the water from said well—for the following reasons:

(a) That as a matter of law the right of this claimant and his predecessor in interest to use water from the well drilled and completed in November, 1934, should not be limited to the acreage put under cultivation prior to 1942, since the underground water statutes which became effective March 8th, 1935 (Chapter 104, Session Laws of Utah, 1935, Amending Section 100-1-4, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933) and (Chapter 195, Session Laws of Utah, 1935, Amending Section 100-1-1, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933) did not in any manner place any limitation of time

within which the full beneficial use of such a well must be accomplished, but on the contrary specifically provided the non-user statute should not apply to underground water.

(b) That in any event the mere fact that the State Engineer surveyed the acreage under cultivation in 1942 in the general adjudication proceedings should not be considered as the maximum period when a well owner might use the full capacity of his well for the irrigation of the maximum acreage intended to be irrigated or susceptible of irrigation; and this is true particularly when the evidence shows without contradiction that after the passage of the underground water act in March, 1935, when appropriation of underground water was required, the State Engineer allowed many well owners extensions of time to submit final proof of maximum beneficial use to as long as 20 years; and particularly when the evidence shows without contradiction that from the years 1942 to and including 1945, extensions were granted by the State Engineer without requiring proof of previous work done, and that in not one single instance, at least in Beaver County, was an application for extension of time between March of 1935 and up to the time of the last hearing concerning the within claim on the 18th of January, 1956, denied by the State Engineer, thus indicating that the State Engineer considered as long as 20 years to be a reasonable time within which to make full

beneficial use of a well right.

(c) That there is no statutory authority for the State Engineer or the Court to limit the acreage which may be irrigated from a well drilled prior to March, 1935, to anything less than that intended when the well was drilled; and particularly when the full capacity of the well was pumped and used prior to the making of the proposed determination even though the acreage so irrigated was less than intended when the well was drilled. In other words, the Legislature not having placed any limitation upon the time when wells drilled prior to March, 1935, could be brought to a full beneficial use, there is no statutory authority for the State Engineer or the Court to adopt some arbitrary time limitation which is considerably less than the time granted by the State Engineer for wells drilled after March, 1935.

(d) That when a new and distinct right was initiated by the filing of Application No. 11870 on Oct. 19th, 1935, for the irrigation of the same acreage as intended to be irrigated under the underground water claim, such right should not be held to be lost for failure to pay an advertising fee when the State Engineer advised the applicant the application would be rejected in any event, and when the applicant was advised to file an underground water claim and that he had a good right for the irrigation of his 80-acre tract because his well was drilled prior to 1935. (Under his application the applicant could have

applied for and been allowed up to at least 20 years to bring his acreage under said well up to 80 acres).

ARGUMENT

1 a-b-c

The problem before this Court is summarized in the statement of errors relied on under No. 1, and the reasons for contending that the court erred in making its interlocutory order are more fully set forth under the sub-heads of a, b, c, and d.

Since the subheads a, b, and c are closely related, appellant will, for the purpose of the argument, treat them together.

The primary question is: Did the trial court err in making its interlocutory order limiting the claimant to the use of water from the well therein described for the irrigation of only 28 acres and in not awarding claimant the right to irrigate 70 acres of such land?

Prior to the enactment of the so-called underground water statute which was enacted by the Legislature of 1935 and became effective during March of 1935 (Ch. 105, Session Laws of 1935, amending Sec. 100-1-1 R.S.U. 1933, and Ch. 104, Session Laws of 1935, amending Sec. 100-1-4 R.S.U. 1933) any person desiring to use underground water for irrigation, stockwatering, domestic or any

other purpose, could drill a well in any size, at any location within his premises, or at any depth he desired, without applying to the State Engineer for permission so to do, and without the necessity of filing an application to appropriate the water or thereafter make final proof upon showing of beneficial use; and could, as he desired, use a minimum amount of water from said well for a minimum acreage or as large an acreage as the full capacity of the well would permit; or he could from time to time increase his acreage, cease using water for any period of time he desired and resume use of the well at will.

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