1956

## George C. Goodwin v. Joseph M. Tracy : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THAT THERE IS SPECIFIC STATUTORY AUTHORITY FOR THE STATE ENGINEER AND THE COURT TO LIMIT THE ACREAGE TO BE IRRIGATED FROM A WELL DRILLED PRIOR TO THE ENACTMENT OF THE UNDERGROUND WATER LAW OF UTAH IN MARCH, 1935; AND THE CONTENTION OF THE RESPONDENT STATE ENGINEER THAT THE APPELLANT WAS ENTITLED TO NO IRRIGATION FROM SAID WELL WAS PROPER AND SHOULD HAVE BEEN UPHELD.

Points I and II of the respondent's brief are directed at Point I, subparagraphs (a), (b), and (c) of appellant's brief but we have separated them for argument as we feel that this adds clarity to the problems that require the consideration of this Court. The questions of law here involved can best be arrived at by a chronological statement of the statutes and the various changes that have been made and together with comment and citation of the cases that have been decided.

We would at the outset state that the issue before this Court is simply whether the enactment of the underground water law by the 1935 Legislature intended to retain the intent theory and permit enlargement of the underground water right indefinitely until that intent had been accomplished or whether the legislature abolished the intent theory and required all further enlargement of the right to be carried on under the supervision



and control of the State Engineer. We are convinced that the latter is the only correct theory and that, to give the legislative enactment any other construction, would lead to a most chaotic situation.

In 1903, the Fifth Regular Session of the Utah Legislature enacted what was designated as Chapter 100, consisting of 73 sections, and this was the first real water code under which water rights were initiated by application to the State Engineer; and section 35 of this chapter provided that “any person, corporation or association, to hereafter acquire the right to the use of any public water in the State of Utah, shall before commencing the construction, enlargement or extension of any ditch, canal or other distributing works, or performing similar work tending to acquire the said right or appropriation, make an application in writing to the State Engineer, which shall include a map, profile and drawings, as hereinafter provided.”

Section 72 of this same Chapter 100, Session Laws of Utah, 1903, provided for the repeal of all prior water laws and all other laws in conflict with this code, but it also provided as follows: “. . . but such repeal shall not affect any vested rights, and any person, corporation or association who may have heretofore filed notice of appropriation of water, or initiated any right under the provisions of said (repealed) laws, may complete and perfect such appropriation or right in the same manner and with like effect as if this repeal had not been made.” . . .

We should also note that Section 34 of Chapter 100, Session Laws of Utah, 1903, reads as follows: "Rights to the use of any of the unappropriated water in the State may be acquired by appropriation in the manner hereinafter provided, and not otherwise. The appropriation must be for some useful or beneficial purpose, and, as between appropriators, the one first in time shall be first in right."

These sections became Sections 100-3-2 and 100-3-1, respectively, in the Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, and a careful comparison with that revision shows that no substantial changes in the above quoted portions had been made in either section during that thirty-year period; and it should be here noted that no concept of state ownership or control of underground water had yet been promulgated, although by 1933 the cases of *Wrathal v. Johnson*, 86 Utah 50, 40 P. 2d 755, and *Justesen v. Olsen*, 86 Utah 158, 40 P. 2d 802, were commenced and were on their way to this Court. And the decision of this Court in those two cases on January 2 and 10, 1935, respectively, made necessary the changes in the laws dealing with appropriation of water by the 1935 Legislature.

Section 100-3-1 of the 1933 Revised Laws was amended by Chapter 105 of the 1935 Session Laws to read as follows:

"Rights to the use of the unappropriated public waters in this state may be acquired only as provided in this title. *No appropriation of water may be made and no rights to the use thereof initiated*

*and no notice of intent to appropriate shall be recognized except application for such appropriation first be made to the state engineer in the manner hereinafter provided, and not otherwise.* The appropriation must be for some useful and beneficial purpose, and, as between appropriators, the one first in time shall be first in right; *provided*, that when a use designated by an application to appropriate any of the unappropriated waters of the state would materially interfere with a more beneficial use of such water, the application shall be dealt with as provided in section 100-3-8.”

This section has not since been changed except for the addition of the last sentence in the present section, which is now Section 73-3-1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, which sentence was added by the Session Laws of 1939 and deals with adverse use.

The important change made in 1935 was the addition of the second sentence which has been italicized in the above quotation of the act and, for purposes of emphasis, may we point out that the legislature has said that “no notice of intent to appropriate shall be recognized”; and this is clearly an indication that the old theory of a right to complete an appropriation based upon the intent when it was first begun was rejected by the legislature in favor of appropriation only under the supervision and control of the State Engineer.

Further, Section 100-3-2 of the Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, and the part with which we are concerned was amended by this same Chapter 105 of the 1935 Session Laws to read as follows:

“Any person who is a citizen of the United States, or who has filed his declaration of intention to become such as required by the naturalization laws, or any association of such citizens or declarants, or any corporation, in order hereafter to acquire the right to the use of any unappropriated public water in this state shall, before commencing the construction, enlargement, extension or structural alteration of any ditch, canal, well, tunnel or other distributing works, or performing similar work tending to acquire such rights or appropriation, or enlargement of an existing right or appropriation, make an application in writing to the state engineer.”

The remainder of this section, which is now Section 73-3-2, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, has since been changed in some detail, but the part above quoted has since remained the law and we desire to call attention specifically to the words contained in the last three lines above quoted, and, at the risk of repetition but in order to emphasize their importance in this issue, we again quote them as follows:

“or enlargement of an existing right or appropriation make an application in writing to the state engineer.”

Applying these statutes to the facts in the present case, we find that the claimant appellant had drilled a well in 1934 but had made no use thereof prior to the enactment of the above quoted acts in 1935 and their effective date of March 22, 1935; and the State Engineer has taken the position that the acts above quoted required that this claimant file an application before he

had any right to the use of water from this well for any irrigation purpose, as such use would clearly be an “enlargement of an existing right or appropriation.” We respectfully urge that this language of the statute, coupled with the clear and announced purpose of the legislature to reject and abolish the theory of intent as applied to the appropriation of water, specifically provides the procedure that must be followed by a water claimant and conclusively demonstrates that the position taken by the State Engineer in completely disallowing the claim was sound and proper and the only position consistent with the statute that could be taken.

This case is a matter of first import in this state and is of great importance not only to the office of the State Engineer but to all owners of water rights from underground sources. The State Engineer is most concerned as this Court’s decision will directly affect the action of that office in all adjudication proceedings now under way and those to be undertaken in the future. And each owner of a right to use water from underground sources is interested either as he may or may not be given the right to use more water and enlarge upon his right or as he may find the water in his particular area protected from further withdrawals or be subject to further depletion as the case may be.

The only case decided since 1935 touching upon this subject is *Hanson v. Salt Lake City*, 115 Utah 404, 205 P. 2d 255, and in this case the Court said:

“We, therefore, conclude and hold that the right to the use of underground waters which prior

to the Wrathall case were not considered the subject of an appropriation, but which were therein held to be subject thereto, could be acquired prior to the 1935 enactments and amendments of our statutes on that subject by merely diverting such waters from their natural source and placing them to a beneficial use and that the plaintiff had, prior to the filing of the application of the city with the State Engineer, acquired a vested right to the use of the waters flowing from his well to the extent that he had placed them to a beneficial use as hereinbefore indicated, and that by filing his claim to such right to use such waters in accordance with the 1935 statute he has established that right with a priority dating from his first use.”

The statement of the Court in this case limiting the right to the extent of the beneficial use made before the effective date of the 1935 amendment is clearly in accord with the position now taken by the State Engineer that there could be no enlargement of any “existing right or appropriation” after the 1935 amendment unless a proper written application was made to the State Engineer.

Some contention has and will be made that we are attempting to apply this 1935 amendment retroactively and that we are attempting to deprive this claimant of a vested right. This is not so. In the first instance the statutes above quoted are procedural in nature and are intended to provide for proper administration and distribution of water in this state to the end that there may be a better beneficial use thereof by all concerned. And, secondly, may we call attention to the fact that on March

22, 1935, every underground water user was given a full right to the extent of his beneficial use on that date. Nothing was taken from him; but he was thereafter required to make proper application to the State Engineer if he desired to enlarge upon his right, which is in reality a new appropriation.

And in further support of our contention may we quote Section 73-5-10, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, which section was first enacted by the 1935 legislature as a part of the then new underground water code, and which reads as follows:

*“Within one year after the date of the approval of this act, all claimants to rights to the use of underground waters shall file notice of such claim or claims, with the state engineer on forms furnished by him, setting forth such information as the state engineer may require, including but not limited to the following:*

The name and postoffice of the person making the claim; the location of the well or tunnel or other means of diversion with reference to a United States government survey corner; the nature and extent of use on which claim of appropriation is based; the flow of underground water used in cubic feet per second or the quantity in acre-feet; the time during which underground water has been used each year and the date when underground water was first used.

Failure to file notice of claim or claims, as provided in this section, shall be prima facie evidence of intent to abandon such claimed right or rights, and in the distribution of the underground waters of this state, the state engineer may disregard any claim not so filed.”



In connection with this section, we have italicized certain words and phrases that again preclude any thought that the claimant had any unlimited time in which to complete his appropriation; and, certainly, the fact that he was to file within the year a statement of his claim can have no significance and no meaning if that same claimant were entitled to an additional fifteen years, as claimed by the present appellant, to complete his appropriation and fulfill what he claims to have been his original intention.

And, finally, in connection with this matter, may we reiterate that in 1903 the legislature specifically provided for completion and perfection of rights that had theretofore been initiated without compliance with the water code then enacted. No similar provision is contained in the 1935 act and we believe that this is a complete answer to appellant's statement on page 21 of his brief and is again conclusive proof that it was the legislative intention to require all use of water from that date on to be under the supervision and control of the State Engineer.

At this point we would refer the Court to the Proposed Determination of Water Rights in the Escalante Valley Drainage Area which was filed with the District Court in Iron County on April 1, 1949, and which is a part of the record in this cause. Contained within this Proposed Determination and commencing on page 204 and concluding on page 269 are listed the rights to the use of underground water that were initiated prior to 1935. It has been computed that the total of these rights



is for the irrigation of 6300 acres with a right of withdrawal of 107 second-feet of water. The right here claimed of 1.0 second-foot to irrigate 70 acres seems small in comparison, but becomes of considerable magnitude when one considers that there are a considerable number of water users, each of whom seek by similar protest, the right to enlarge over the use that existed in 1935.

There is in the present matter before the Court no complaint by any junior appropriator or any other user of water within this underground area as to this claimed right to enlarge his use by the appellant herein; but the State Engineer believed, and the District Court confirmed this belief into a fact, that in these general adjudication proceedings, and particularly where underground water was concerned and a contest has developed, the State Engineer not only represents the State of Utah but of necessity represents all other water claimants in the area. We are required to take and defend such a position as the claimants within the area expect that we will defend and uphold the Proposed Determination as presented and we are also vitally interested in all matters of this type inasmuch as the final ruling will do much to determine the existence or non-existence of unappropriated water within the source.

The cases of *Becker v. Marble Creek Irrigation Co.*, 15 Utah 225, 49 Pac. 892, *Hague v. Nephi Irrigation Co.*, 16 Utah 421, 52 Pac. 765, *Gunnison Irrigation Co. v. Gunnison Highland Canal Co.*, 52 Utah 347, 174 Pac. 852 and *Jensen v. Birch Creek Ranch*, 76 Utah 356, 289 Pac. 1097,

are each discussed under Point II of this brief, but we feel that the language used and hereafter quoted in those cases is equally applicable to the matters herein discussed and we earnestly hope that this Court will so consider it.

And, in conclusion of this part of the argument, may we refer to the recent case of *Bishop v. Duck Creek Irrigation Co.*, 121 Utah 290, 241 P. 2d 162. In that case the proof available went back only to 1906 and the court accepted such use and adjudicated the rights based on such use. No reference was made to any right of enlargement or to any reasonable period therefor, but this Court did make this statement: "Since there are no filings with the State Engineer either by Bishop or his predecessors, whatever right he has to the water must necessarily rest upon appropriation by beneficial use before 1903. Prior to that time the law allowed appropriation by such use, and statutes enacted that year preserve such appropriations."

## POINT II

THAT AS A MATTER OF LAW THE CLAIMANT APPELLANT CAN BE LIMITED TO THE ACREAGE UNDER CULTIVATION IN 1942 AND THE INTERLOCUTORY ORDER OF THE TRIAL COURT IN AWARDING THE CLAIMANT 28 ACRES IS PROPER AND IS ENTITLED TO AFFIRMANCE BY THIS COURT.

The matters discussed under this point would become moot if the Court were to agree with the position

taken by the respondent under Point I, but we also earnestly contend and urge that the decision of the District Court can and should be upheld without regard to Point I as far as the Appellant is concerned although the acreage so allowed is contrary to the position taken by respondent and in excess of that which which the respondent believes should have been allowed.

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